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MS-4606

1849 C Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20240

Defendants.

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Plaintiffs Yakima Dixie ("Chief Dixie"), the California Valley Miwok Tribe ("Tribe"),
and Tribe members Velma WhiteBear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and
Antoine Azevedo, individually and as members of the Tribal Council ("Council"), submit this
Complaint against the Defendants, Ken Salazar, Secretary of the United States Department of
the In’gerior ("Department"), Larry Echo Hawk, Assistant Secretary— Indian Affairs of the
Department, and Michael Black, Director of the Bureau of Indian Affairs within the

Department, and state and allege as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. In California Valley Miwok Tribe v. United States, 515 F.3d 1262 (D.C. Cir.
2008), the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit upheld the Secretary of the
Interior’s ("Secretary") decision that Sylvia Burley ("Burley") and her two daughters
(collectively, the "Burley Faction™) were not the legitimate government of the Tribe. The court
held that the Secretary, in 2004 and 2005, properly rejected a purported tribal constitution that
the Burley Faction had submitted "without so much as consulting [the Tribe's] membership.”
The Secretary therefore properly refused to recognize Ms. Burley as Chairperson of the Tribe,

and properly refused to recognize the Tribe as "organized" under the Indian Reorganization



Actof 1934 ("IRA"). See Letter from Dale Risling Sr., Superintendent, Bureau of Indian
Affairs Central California Agency, to Silvia Burley (Mar. 26, 2004) (the "2004 Decision") (a
true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "A"); Letter from Michael Olsen,
Acting Assistant Secretary — Indian Affairs, to Yakima Dixie, (Feb. 11, 2005) (the "2005
Decision) (a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "B"). The Court of
Appeals thus affirmed a decision by the District Court for the District of Columbia, dismissing
Ms. Burley's challenge to the Secretary's decisions.

2. In briefs submitted to the Court of Appeals, the Secretary took the position that,
"for an 'Indian tribe' to organize under the IRA, action by the tribe as a whole is required;
action by an unrepresentative faction is insufficient." The Secretary argued, in support of the
2004 and 2005 Decisions, that she could not recognize Burley's purported tribal government,
or its constitution, because "the undisputed facts show that the Burley Government was
elected, and its governing documents adopted, by just three people and without the
participation of the vast majority of the potential members of the Tribe." The Secretary also
recognized that she had not only the authority but the obligation to "ensure the legitimacy of
any purported tribal government that seeks to engage in [a] government-to-government
relationship with the United States.”

3. The Court of Appeals agreed with the Secretary, holding that "as Congress has
made clear, tribal organization under the [IRA] must reflect majoritarian values," and that
[ Burley's] antimajoritarian gambit deserves no stamp of approval from the Secretary.”

4. Following the Court of Appeals’ decision, on November 6, 2006, the Bureau of
Indian Affairs ("BIA") issued a decision describing how it would assist the Tribe in organizing
under the IRA. The Burley Faction appealed this decision to the BIA's Regional Director. On

April 2, 2007, the Regional Director affirmed the decision.
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5. On April 10 and 17, 2007, the BIA published a notice seeking personal
genealogies and other information from potential Tribe members, which was to be used to
identify those who were entitled to participate in the initial organization of the Tribe. More
than 500 people responded. The BIA has taken no action as to these submittals.

6. The Burley Faction did not participate in the process initiated by the BIA, but
instead appealed the Regional Director's April 2, 2007 decision to the Interior Board of Indian
Appeals ("Board"). California Valley Miwok Tribe v. Pacific Regional Director, Bureau of
Indian Affairs, 51 IBIA 103 (Jan. 28, 2010).

7. The Board held that the Secretary's previous, judicially approved decisions
regarding the status of the Burley Faction and the requirement of majority participation were
not subject to further review. It therefore dismissed all but one of Burley's claims for lack of
jurisdiction. The Board referred a single, narrow issue from Burley’s appeal to the Assistant
Secretary — Indian Aflairs (the "Assistant Secretary"): the process for identifying which
members of the Tribal community were entitled to participate in the initial organization of the
Tribe.

8. On December 22, 2010, the Assistant Secretary acted on Burley's appeal Letter
from Assistant Secretary—Indian Affairs to Yakima Dixie (December 22, 2010) (the
"December 22 Decision"), (a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "C").
The Assistant Secretary did not address the narrow issue over which he had jurisdiction.
Instead, he inexplicably repudiated each of the arguments that the Secretary had made before
the District Court and the Court of Appeals. Without any reasoned explanation, he reversed
each and every one of the Secretary's prior decisions that those courts had upheld. The
Assistant Secretary rescinded the 2004 and 2005 Decisions denying recognition of the Burley

Faction and its constitution. He declared that the Tribe was "organized” under a General
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Council form of government, pursuant to a 1998 tribal resolution that was not signed by a
majority of the Tribe's adult members (the "1998 Resolution”). He directed the BIA to carry
on government-to-government relations with the Burley Faction. And he ordered the BIA to
rescind its efforts to help the Tribe organize according to majoritarian principles.

9. Plaintiffs challenge the Assistant Secretary's action as arbitrary, capricious, and
not in accordance with law. The December 22 Decision exceeds the scope of the issue referred
to the Assistant Secretary on appeal, improperly revisits and overturns long-settled, judicially
approved decisions, addresses issues barred by failure to file timely appeals with the Board,
and violates the Secretary's responsibility to ensure that the United States conducts
government-to-government relations only with valid representatives of the Tribe.

10.  The December 22 Decision directly contradicts the Secretary's prior
representations to this Court and cedes complete control of the Tribe to the Burley Faction,
who have fought for more than a decade to deny the benefits of Tribe membership to anyone

but themselves.

i1, Plaintiffs therefore file this action, asking this Court to invalidate the Assistant

Secretary's decision and to enjoin and invalidate its implementation.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

12.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331

because the asserted claims arise under the Constitution and laws of the United States.
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that the Tribe seeks to compel officers and employees of the United States and its agencies to

perform duties owed to the Tribe.



14.  This Court also has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1362
because the Tribe is an Indian tribe duly recognized by the Secretary of the Interior, and the
matter in controversy arises under the Constitution, laws or treaties of the United States.

15, Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) because the Secretary,
the Assistant Secretary, the Director of the BIA, and the Department are located in this district.

16.  Judicial review of the agency action is authorized by the Administrative
Procedure Act ("APA™), 5 U.S.C. §§ 702, 704 and 706. The Assistant Secretary's decision is
final agency action under the APA and 25 C.F.R. § 2.6(c).

17.  The requested declaratory and injunctive relief is authorized by 28 U.S.C.

§§ 2201-2202.

18.  Plaintiffs have exhausted their administrative remedies and are not required to
pursue additional administrative remedies before seeking and obtaining judicial relief.

19.  An actual case and controversy has arisen and now exists between the parties
with regard to the Assistant Secretary's violations of the statutes and regulations cited herein.

PARTIES

20.  Plaintiff California Valley Miwok Tribe, also known as the "Sheep Ranch
Rancheria," the "Sheep Ranch Rancheria of Me-Wuk Indians of California,” and the "Sheep
Ranch Band of Me-wuk Indians of the Sheep Ranch Rancheria,” is a federally recognized
Indian tribe situated in Sheep Ranch, California, in Calaveras County. (The Burley Faction
purporied to enact a tribal resolution in 2001, changing the name of the Tribe from the Sheep
Ranch Band of Me-wuk Indians to the California Valley Miwok Tribe. Plaintiffs dispute that
the Burley Faction had the authority to enact such a resolution. But because the BIA now
refers to the Tribe as the California Valley Miwok Tribe, Plaintiffs and members of the larger

tribal community have used that name to avoid confusion. This Complaint will do the same.)

-6-



The Tribe consists of Indian members and their descendants, and/or their Indian successors in
interest, for whose benefit the United States acquired and created the Sheep Ranch Rancheria.
There is an ongoing dispute regarding the true membership and leadership of the Tribe.

21.  Plaintiff Yakima Dixie is the Hereditary Chief and Traditional Spokesperson,
and the historical Chairperson, of the California Valley Miwok Tribe.

22, Plaintiff Tribal Council is the duly authorized and legitimate governing body of
the Tribe, appointed by Chief Dixie. The Council consists of Chief Dixie and Tribe members
Velma WhiteBear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and Antoine Azevedo.

23. Plaintiffs Velma WhiteBear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn
Wilson and Antoine Azevedo are members of the Tribe and of the Tribal Council. Eachis a
lineal descendant of a historical member or members of the Tribe.

24.  Defendant Ken Salazar is the Secretary of the United States Department of the
Interior. Mr. Salazar is responsible for the supervision of the various federal agencies and
bureaus within the Department, including the BIA. Mr. Salazar is an officer or employee of
the United States and has a direct statutory duty to carry out the provisions of the Indian
Reorganization Act of 1934 (“IRA™) and other relevant laws. Mr. Salazar is sued in his official
capacity only.

25.  Defendant Larry Echo Hawk is the Assistant Secretary — Indian Affairs of the

Department and head of the Bureau of Indian Affairs. Mr. Echo Hawk issued the December 22

26.  Michael Black is the Director of the Bureau of Indian Affairs within the
Department. Mr. Black is responsible or the day-to-day operations of the BIA, including its
relations with federally recognized Indian tribes. Mr. Black is sued in his official capacity

only.



RELEVANT FACTS

Tribal History and Indian Reorganization Act

27.  In 1916, the United States purchased approximately one to two acres of land
and created the Sheep Ranch Rancheria for the benefit of a small cluster of twelve to fourteen
Miwok Indians that were found living in or near Sheep Ranch, California. The United States
subsequently recognized the Sheep Ranch Band of Me-wuk Indians as a federal Indian Tribe.

28.  In 1935, the Tribe voted to accept the IRA. The IRA allows Indian tribes to
adopt a constitution, form a tribal government, and elect tribal officials, subject to substantive
and procedural requirements in the IRA. Tribes thus “organized™ under the IRA are eligible
for certain federal benefits and services. Although it accepted the IRA, the Tribe did not take
action to become "organized.”

29, Under the IRA, the Secretary has a duty to ensure that the Department
recognizes only a legitimate tribal government that reflects the participation of a majority of
the Tribe’s membership. This duty is informed’and strengthened by the United States’ trust
obligations to Indian tribes and their members.

The California Rancheria Act and Failure to Terminate the Tribe

30. In 1958, Congress enacted the California Rancheria Act, which authorized the
Secretary to terminate the lands and trust status of enumerated Indian tribes on California
Rancherias under certain conditions. Under the Act, tribes could accept termination in
exchange for fee title to Rancheria assets and the provision of certain services by the federal
government.

31.  In 1965, the BIA listed Mabel Hodge Dixie as the only Indian living on Sheep

Ranch Rancheria.



32. Onor about 1966, the BIA began proceedings to “terminate” the Tribe pursuant
to the California Rancheria Act, and the United States conveyed fee title in the Sheep Ranch
Rancheria to Mabel Hodge Dixie. The BIA never completed the requirements for termination.
In 1967, Ms. Dixie quitclaimed the Rancheria back to the United States, thereby preventing
termination of the Tribe from becoming effective.

33, In 1971, Ms. Dixie died, and her son Yakima Dixie inherited the position of
Hereditary Chief and Traditional Spokesperson of the Tribe.

34. In 1994, Congress enacted the Tribe List Act, Pub. L. 103-454; 108 Stat. 4791,
4792, which requires the Secretary annually to publish a list of federally recognized Indian
Tribes. The Tribe was included on the 1994 list and has been included on each list published
since that time. Inclusion of a tribe on the list does not mean that the tribe is "organized” under
the IRA or that its membership has been determined.

Burley Secks Control of the Tribe

35.  In 1998, Chief Dixie was the only Indian living on the Sheep Ranch Rancheria.
Burley contacted Chief Dixie and asked him to enroll Burley, her two daughters, and her
granddaughter in the Tribe so they could receive federal education and health benefits available
to Indian tribe members. Chief Dixie agreed. Chief Dixie, Ms. Burley and her daughters then
began preliminary efforts to organize the Tribe under the IRA,

36.  Soon thereafter, a series of disputes ensued as Burley attempted to gain sole
control of the Tribe, In 1998, Burley submitted the 1998 Resolution, which purported to
establish a General Council to serve as the governing body of the Tribe. The 1998 Resolution
was invalid, however, because it was not signed by a majority of the Tribe's adult members.
Burley then filed a document purporting to be the resignation of Chief Dixie as Tribal

Chairperson. Chief Dixie immediately denied the validity of the document and continues to do
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so. Over the next few years, Burley tried several times, unsuccessfully, to gain BIA approval
of various Tribal constitutions that would have recognized her as the Tribe's leader and limited
Tribe membership to Burley and a few others.

Chief Dixie's Efforts to Organize the Tribe

37.  After several years of failed efforts to resolve the leadership disputes that had
arisen with Burley, Chief Dixie began efforts in 2003 to organize the Tribe without Burley's
assistance and with the participation of the entire Tribal community. Since late 2003, the Tribe
has held open meetings each month. Attendance at the meetings ranges from approximately 30
to more than 100 members. Attendance records are kept, and meetings are recorded and
archived. Although Burley was specifically invited to the initial meetings and has never been
excluded from any meeting, she has never attended.

38.  In addition to the general Tribal meetings, Chief Dixie convened a group of
individuals who were recognized within the Tribal community as figures of authority, in order
to form a Tribal Council. In addition to Chief Dixie, the Council consists of Plaintiffs Velma
WhiteBear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and Antoine Azevedo. Each
of the members of the Tribal Council is a lineal descendant of a historical member or members
of the Tribe. The Council met with the BIA in September 2003 and presented the BIA with
documentation of their legitimate claims to Tribal membership and authority.

39. At the September 2003 meeting, Chief Dixie and the Council presented the BIA
with a list of Tribal community members who should be allowed to participate in the initial
organization of the Tribe, and requested that the BIA call an election pursuant to the IRA to
select a Tribal government that could be recognized by the United States. The BIA did not act
on the Council's request but continued to meet regularly with Chief Dixie and the Council to

discuss efforts to organize the Tribe. Since its formation, the Tribal Council has met
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approximately every other month to discuss Tribal policy, enact resolutions, and conduct other
Tribe business.

40.  Under the leadership of the Council, the Tribe has established many programs
aimed at benefiting the full Tribal membership, strengthening the tribal community, and
reestablishing historic ties with the larger Indian community. Extensive information about the
Tribe’s activities is available on the Tribe’s website at http://californiavalleymiwok.com/x-
index.html. Tribal activities include:

a. Involvement in approximately ten Indian Child Welfare Act cases, in an
effort to have children of Tribe members who are in protective services placed with families
that have ties to Indian traditions. Burley has opposed the Tribe's efforts in these cases.

b. Issuance of Tribal identification cards.

c. Involvement in Indian health services, emergency services and food
distribution programs, including the MACT Indian health services program, that benefit
members of the Tribe and other Indian tribes.

d. Participation, with other Miwok tribes, in an intratribal Miwok
Language Restoration Group. Plaintiff Evelyn Wilson is the senior Miwok member who still
speaks the Miwok language.

e. A ceremonial Indian dance group (through Tribe members Gilbert

Ramirez and his son Pete) that represents the Tribe at events throughout California.
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development sites.

g. Consultation with the U.S. Forest Service to help identify native plants

on state and federal land that have been used by Indians for medicinal and other purposes.



h. Classes in traditional crafts and skills, such as basket weaving, and
continuing efforts to revive the gathering of native plants, pine nuts, and other materials for
such crafts, as well as to protect the sites where those materials are gathered.

i. Potential involvement, in collaboration with Calaveras County and other
local and state agencies, in the Collaborative Forest Landscape Restoration Program, a
federally supported forest rehabilitation program.

j- Participation in a variety of other economically and socially beneficial
programs and activities, including but not limited to the Calaveras Healthy Impact Products
Solutions program.

Each of these activities will be harmed if the December 22 Decision is allowed to stand and the

federal government recognizes the Burley Faction as the government of the Tribe.

The BIA Repudiates the Burley Faction

41.  Burley responded to Chief Dixie's efforts to organize the Tribe around its
legitimate members by submitting yet another proposed constitution, in February 2004, to the
BIA—jpurportedly to demonstrate that the Tribe was already “organized” with Ms. Burley as
its leader.

42.  Ina March 26, 2004 letter to Burley, the BIA declined to approve her latest
constitution. The BIA explained that efforts to organize a Tribe must reflect the involvement
of the whole tribal community: "Where a tribe that has not previously organized seeks to do so,
BIA also has a responsibility to determine that the organizational efforts reflect the
involvement of the whole tribal community. We have not seen evidence that such general
involvement was attempted or has occurred with the purported organization of your tribe. . ..
To our knowledge, the only persons of Indian descent involved in the tribe's organization
efforts, were you and your two daughters . . .. It is only after the greater tribal community is

-12-
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initially identified that governing documents should be drafted and the Tribe's base and
membership criteria identified.”

43.  The BIA's letter identified several groups of Tribe members and segments of the
tribal community who should be involved in the initial organization efforts. These groups
included Chief Dixie and his brother Melvin Dixie; other individuals who had resided at Sheep
Ranch Rancheria in the past, and their offspring; persons who had inherited an interest in the
Sheep Ranch Rancheria; Indians who had once lived adjacent to Sheep Ranch Rancheria, and
their descendants; and neighboring groups of Indians, of which the Tribe may once have been a
part.

44,  The BIA's letter also stated that "the BIA does not yet view your tribe to be an
‘organized’ Indian Tribe" and that, as a fesult, the BIA could not recognize Burley as the Tribe's
Chairperson.

45. On February 11, 2005, the Assistant Secretary — Indian Affairs sent a letter to
Chief Dixie and Burley in which he reiterated the decisions expressed in the BIA's March 26,
2004 letter. The Assistant Secretary stated, "In that letter, the BIA made clear that the Federal
government did not recognize Ms. Burley as the tribal Chairman. . .. Until such time as the
Tribe has organized, the Federal government can recognize no one, including yourself, as the
tribal Chairman. [ encourage you . . . to continue your efforts to organize the Tribe along the
lines outlined in the March 26, 2004 letter so that the Tribe can become organized and enjoy
the full benefits of Federal recognition. The first step in organizing the Tribe is identifyi
putative tribal members.”

46.  After the Assistant Secretary's 2005 determination, the BIA sought to work with

Chief Dixie's Tribal Council and the Tribe to complete the organization process. Chief Dixie
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and the BIA invited Burley to participate, but she again refused and instead filed suit
challenging the Assistant Secretary's decision. |
The District Court and Court of Appeals Uphold the BIA's Decision

47.  In April 2005, the Burley Faction filed suit in the federal district court for the
District of Columbia. The suit challenged the BIA’s and Assistant Secretary's refusal to
approve the Burley Faction's proposed constitution and to recognize its purported Tribal
government, and sought a judgment that the Tribe was “organized.” Notably, Burley did not
contest in federal court the BIA's specific decision not to recognize her as the Tribal
Chairperson. She thereby waived any challenge to that decision.

48.  Around the same time, the Burley Faction also purported to disenroll Chief
Dixie from the Tribe, for the purpose of denying him status to participate in the federal lawsuit.
Ironically, in 2009, the Burley Faction purported to reinstate Chief Dixie as a member of the
Tribe, in an attempt to deny him a basis to intervene in state court litigation in which Burley
sought access to funds held in trust for the Tribe.

49, The district court dismissed the Burley Faction’s claims in March 2006, The
court found that the Secretary has "a responsibility to ensure that {she] deals only with a tribal
government that actually represents the members of a tribe." California Valley Miwok Tribe v.
United States, 424 F Supp.2d 197 (D.D.C. Mar. 31, 2006). Likewise, the court found that the
BIA has a "duty to ensure that the interests of all tribe members are protected during
organization and that governing documents reflect the will of a majority of the Tribe's
members.” The court found the BIA’s decisions consistent with that duty.

50.  The district court noted that the Burley Faction had submitted a constitution that
"conferred tribal membership only upon them and their descendants . . . [but] the government

estimates that the greater tribal community, which should be included in the organization

-14-



process, may exceed 250 members.” In light of the fact that the Tribe was receiving
approximately $1.5 million per year in state and federal funds at the time, the court concluded
that Burley's motivation was self-evident: "As H.L. Mencken is said to have said: "When
someone says it's not about the money, it's about the money."

51.  Burley challenged the district court's decision, and the Court of Appeals for the
District of Columbia Circuit affirmed. California Valley Miwok Tribe, supra, 515 F.3d 1262.
According to the Court of Appeals, the rejection of the Burley government and constitution
fulfilled a cornerstone of the United States’ trust obligation to Indian tribes: to "promote a
tribe’s political integrity, which includes ensuring that the will of tribal members is not
thwarted by rogue leaders when it comes to decisions affecting federal benefits."

52.  The Court of Appeals further explained: "In Burley’s view, the Secretary has no
role in determining whether a tribe has properly organized itself . ... That cannot be. ... [T]he
Secretary has the power to manage 'a/l Indian affairs and all matters arising out of Indian
relations. . . . The exercise of this authority is especially vital when, as is the case here, the
government is determining whether a tribe is organized, and the receipt of significant federal
benefits turns on the decision. The Secretary suggests that her authority . . . includes the power
1o reject a proposed constitution that does not enjoy sufficient support from a tribe’s
membership. Her suggestion is reasonable, particularly in light of the federal government's
unique trust obligation to Indian tribes” (emphasis in original). The court concluded:
"Although [the Tribe], by its own admission, has a potential membership of 250, only Burley
and her small group of supporters had a hand in adopting her proposed constitution. This

antimajoritarian gambit deserves no stamp of approval from the Secretary.”



The BIA Attempts to Assist the Tribe In Organizing

53. On November 6, 2006, after the district court had dismissed Burley's claims, the
BIA informed the Burley Faction that it would assist the Tribe in organizing according to
majoritarian principles, consistent with the decisions upheld by the court. The Superintendent
of the BIA's Central California Agency wrote to Burley and Chief Dixie that the BIA
"remainfed] committed to assist the [Tribe] in its efforts to reorganize a formal governmental
structure that is representative of all Miwok Indians who can establish a basis for their interest
in the Tribe and is acceptable to a clear majority of those Indians." To help achieve that goal,
the BIA would facilitate a public mecting of existing members and Putative Members—i.e.,
those members of the tribal community with a legitimate claim to Tribal membership based on
their lineal descent from original members of the Tribe.

54.  Instead of cooperating in this effort to organize the Tribe, the Burley Faction
appealed the Superintendent's November 6, 2006 decision to the BIA's Pacific Regional
Director. On April 2, 2007, the Regional Director affirmed the decision and remanded the
matter back to the Superintendent to implement the actions mentioned in the November 6,
2006 decision. The Regional Director wrote, "We belicve the main purposc [of the November
6, 2006 decision] was to assist the Tribe in identifying the whole community, the ‘putative’
group, who would be entitled to participate in the Tribe's efforts to organize a government that
will represent the Tribe as a whole. . .. It is our belief that until the Tribe has identified the

¢’ group, the Tribe will not have a solid foundation upon which to build a stable
government.”

55.  On April 10 and April 17, 2007, the BIA published public notice of an
upcoming meeting to organize the Tribe. The notice requested that Putative Members submit

documentation of their membership claim to the BIA (e.g., personal genealogies). The public

-16-



notice defined the Putative Members as lincal descendants of: (1) individuals listed on the 1915
Indian Census of Sheep-ranch Indians; (2) Jeff Davis (the only Indian listed as an eligible voter
on the federal government’s 1935 voting list for the Rancheria); and (3) Mabel Hodge Dixie.

56.  According to the BIA, approximately 580 persons submitted personal
genealogies to the BIA in response to the April 2007 public notices. Plaintiffs Velma
WhiteBear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and Antoine Azevedo each
submitted genealogies and other documentation to the BIA in response to the public notices.
No member of the Burley Faction submitted documentation in response to the public notices.
The BIA has taken no action on the information submitted.

Burley Attempts to Relitigate Her Claims Before the Board

57.  Burley appealed the Regional Director's April 2, 2007 decision to the Interior
Board of Indian Appeals. Among other claims not relevant here, Burley argued that the BIA's
decision to involve the Tribal community in the initial organization of the Tribe was an
impermissible intrusion into Tribal government and membership matters, because the Tribe
was already "organizéd"——»an issue that the district court and Court of Appeals had already
decided adversely to Burley in her earlier federal suit.

58.  InJanuary 2010, the Board decided Burley's appeal. The Board recognized that
the Assistant Secretary’s February 11, 2005 decision and the ensuing federal litigation had
already finally determined the following issues: (1) that the BIA did not recognize the Tribe as
being organized; (2) that the BIA did not recognize any tribal government that represents the
Tribe: (3) that the Tribe’s membership was not necessarily limited to the Burley Faction and
Yakima Dixie; and (4) that the BIA had an obligation to ensure that a “greater tribal
community” was allowed to participate in organizing the Tribe. The Board recognized that, to

the extent Burley's appeal attempted to relitigate those issues, it had no jurisdiction over her
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claims. Accordingly, the Board dismissed all of Burley’s claims (including those claims not
discussed here), except for a single, narrow issue,

59.  According to the Board, the Burley appeal raised a solitary issue that had not
already been decided by the Assistant Secretary: the process for deciding "who BIA will
recognize, individually and collectively, as members of the greater tribal community’ that BIA
believes must be allowed to participate in the general council meeting of the Tribe for
organizational purposes." The Board characterized this as a "tribal enrollment dispute" and
therefore referred the issue to the Assistant Secretary for resolution.

The Assistant Secretary’s December 22 Decision

60.  The Assistant Secretary issued his decision in the Burley appeal on December
22, 2010. But instead of deciding the issue referred to him, the Assistant Secretary
inexplicably, and without any reasoned explanation, reopened issues long settled and not
subject to further appeal. The Assistant Secretary rescinded the March 26, 2004 and February
11, 2005 decisions by the BIA and Assistant Secretary, which had denied recognition of the
Burley Faction and its constitution and declared that the larger Tribal community must be
involved in the organization of the Tribe. Assistant Secretarial review of both decisions is time
barred under binding regulations. Contrary to the Court of Appeals ruling, the Assistant
Secretary declared that the Tribe was already "organized as a General Council” pursuant to the
1998 Resolution. He ordered the BIA to rescind its 2006 and 2007 decisions to help the Tribe
organize according to-majoritarian principles. And he directed the BlA to-carryon

government-to-government relations with the sham government headed by Burley.
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Consequences of the Secretary’s Unlawful Decision
61. As a result of the Assistant Secretary’s unlawful December 22 Decision, the
Plaintiffs have suffered and will continue to suffer great injury, including but not limited to the
following:
62.  Chief Dixie and the members of the Tribal council have been denied the
opportunity to participate in the organization and governance of the Tribe.

a. Immediately after the Secretary issued his December 22 Decision, the
Burley Faction issued a public notice calling for a “special election” to elect tribal officers.
The public notice stated that only Ms. Burley, her two daughters, and Chief Dixie would be
allowed to participate in the election of the Tribe’s government. The public notice relied on
the December 22 Decision as the basis for the Burley Faction’s right to call the election.

b. On January 7, 2011, the Burley Faction conducted its “special election”
among the three members of the Burley family. Neither Chief Dixie nor any member of the
Tribal Council participated in the “special election,” Except for Chief Dixie, the other
individual plaintiffs were barred from participating.

c. On January 12, 2011, the BIA acknowledged receipt of the results of the
Burley Faction’s January 7 “special election” and recognized a “tribal council” consisting of
Burley as Chairperson and her daughter, Rashel Reznor, as Secretary/Treasurer. It is telling
that the BIA's letter does not mention the number of voters participating in this "election.”
Under the government recognized by the BIA, none of the Plaintiffs has any voice in the
organization or governance of the Tribe,

63.  Chief Dixie and the members of the Tribal Council have been and will be

denied the benefits of Tribe membership, because the December 22 Decision allows the Burley
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Faction to withhold funds, benefits and services that should be made available to them as Tribe
members. Among other things:

a. The December 22 Decision allows the Burley Faction to exercise
complete control over Tribe membership and to exclude Chief Dixie and the members of the
Tribal Council from membership in the Tribe.

b. As a result of being denied Tribe membership, the members of the Tribal
Council are not and will not be eligible to receive federal health, education and other benefits
provided to members of recognized Indian Tribes.

64.  The December 22 Decision, if upheld, could provide a basis for allowing Burley
to divert funds held in trust for the Tribe by the State of California. Beginning in 1999, Burley
represented to the California Gambling Control Commission (“Commission™) that she was the
authorized representative of the Tribe and entitled to collect funds paid by the state to tribes
that do not operate casinos or gaming devices. Burley received funds from the Commission,
which were meant for the Tribe, between 1999 and 2005 (the “State Funds”). The State Funds
totaled approximately $1 million or more per year.

a. None of the Plaintiffs received any of the State Funds. The Plaintiffs do
not know of any members of the Tribe who received or benefited from any of the State Funds
except for Burley and her immediate family. The Plaintiffs do not know of any programs for
the benefit of the Tribe or its members that were created or supported with the Funds.

b, I 20035, the Commission ceased distribution of the State Funds to
Burley on the ground that the federal government did not recognize her as the appropriate
representative of the Tribe. Burley has filed litigation in California Superior Court, seeking to
compel the Commission to resume distribution of the State Funds to her, including

approximately $6.6 million of the State Funds that the Commission has withheld since 2005.



California Valley Miwok Tribe v. California Gambling Control Commission, No. 37-2008-
00075326 (Sup. Ct. San Diego). Burley seeks to introduce the December 22 Decision as
evidence that she is entitled to receive the State Funds.

c. If Burley receives the State Funds, Chief Dixie and the members of the
Tribal Council will be denied the benefit of the State Funds, because the State of California has
no control over the use of the State Funds once they are paid to a tribe.

d. If Ms. Burley receives the State Funds, the Tribe will be denied the
Funds, because Ms. Burley is not a legitimate representative of the Tribe.

65.  The December 22 Decision will allow Burley to divert federal funds intended
for the Tribe. Beginning in 1999, and continuing through 2007, Burley received federal grant
money intended for the Tribe, based on her representation that she was an authorized
representative of the Tribe. The grant money was provided through a “self-determination
contract” pursuant to Public Law 93-638 ("PL 638") to assist the Tribe in organizing under the
IRA. Burley received from $400,000 to $600,000 per year.

a. Burley did not use the PL 638 funds to organize the Tribe consistent
with the IRA. Instead, she scught to disenfranchise Plaintiffs and other members of the Tribal
community and secured the benefits of Tribe membership only for herself and her immediate
family.

b. The BIA has indicated its intent, based on the Secretary’s decision, to
enter into a new PL 638 contract with the Burley
the Tribe. The Tribe will be denied its rightful use of the PL 638 funds, because those funds

will be paid to Burley and her illegitimate government instead.



Plaintiffs' Request for Reconsideration

66.  On January 6, 2011, the Plaintiffs requested that the Secretary immediately
reconsider and stay the Assistant Secretary's December 22 Decision. The Secretary did not
respond, and on January 21, 2011, Plaintiffs withdrew the request for reconsideration.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

(Arbitrary and Capricious Agency Action in Violation of the APA)
67.  Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 66, and incorporate those paragraphs
herein as if set forth in full.
68.  The APA provides that a court must hold unlawful and set aside agency action
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that is “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law.
5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A).

69.  The Assistant Secretary’s December 22 Decision constitutes “final agency
action.”

70.  The December 22 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it
unlawfully reopened and addressed issues not within the scope or jurisdiction of the Board
appeal from which the decision arose, including the status of the Tribe as not "organized," the
BIA's and Department’s refusal to recognize the tribal government led by Burley, and the
BIA’s decision to involve the entire tribal community in the organization of the Tribe. Under
binding regulations of the Department, those issues were final, not subject to the jurisdiction of
the Board, not subject to appeal, and not referred to the Assistant Secretary by the Board.

71. "fhs: December 22 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it fails to
provide a reasoned analysis explaining why the decision completely reverses judicially

approved, longstanding BIA and Department policy and prior BIA and Department



determinations in this case, regarding the status of the Tribe and the Burley government and
the requirements for organization under the IRA.

72. The December 22 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it is
precluded by the doctrine of res judicata. The status of the Tribe and of Burley's purported
government are issues that were previously litigated and finally decided by a court of
competent jurisdiction in a prior dispute between Burley and the Department. The Court of
Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit held that the Secretary properly refused to
recognize the tribe as organized under the Burley Faction. Res judicata therefore bars Burley
from attempting to relitigate those issues in another forum. The Assistant Secretary’s
December 22 Decision is precluded by the district court's and Court of Appeals’ resolution of
those issues.

73.  The December 22 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it is barred
by the doctrine of judicial estoppel, because the Secretary previously argued, before the
District Court for the District of Columbia and the Court of Appeals for the District of
Columbia Circuit, that the Tribe was not organized and that she could not recognize Burley's
purported government. The December 22 Decision reverses the very same actions that the
Secretary defended before the district court and the Court of Appeals.

74, The December 22 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it fails to
address a prior appeal by Chief Dixie. In October 2003, Chief Dixie filed an appeal with the
Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs, challenging the BIA s recognition (at that time) of Ms.
Burley as Chairperson. On February 11, 2005, the Assistant Secretary — Indian Affairs
dismissed the appeal on procedural grounds. The Assistant Secretary found that the BIA’s
2004 Decision had rendered Chief Dixie’s appeal moot, because that decision made clear that

the BIA did not recognize Ms. Burley as Tribal Chairperson, that the Tribe was not



“organized;” and that the United States did not recognize any Tribal government. Because the
December 22 Decision purports to rescind the final 2004 Decision, the Assistant Secretary
must reinstate and decide Chief Dixie’s appeal before recognizing any Tribal government.

75.  The December 22 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it does not
fulfill the Secretary's trust obligation to the Tribe and its members. The Secretary has a
fiduciary duty to ensure that any tribal government he recognizes represents a majority of the
tribal community. By recognizing a purported government that represents only three members
of the Tribe, the Secretary (acting through his subordinate the Assistant Secretary) has
breached his duty to the Tribe, the Tribal Council and the individual Plaintiffs.

76. The December 22 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it is
inconsistent with the IRA. The IRA imposes substantive and procedural requirements that
must be met before the Secretary may recognize a tribal government. By recognizing a tribal
government that was not elected or ratified pursuant to those requirements, the Secretary
(acting through the Assistant Secretary) has violated the IRA.

77. The December 22 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it
unlawfully recognizes a tribal government based on the 1998 Resolution, which is invalid on
its face. The 1998 Resolution identifies "at least” five individuals who are Tribe members, and
recites that it was authorized by a majority of the Tribe's adult members. But it bears only two

signatures. Moreover, one of those signatures purports to be that of Chief Dixie, who disputes

government recognized by the United States.
78. As a direct and proximate result of the December 22 Decision, Chief Dixie, the
Tribal Council, and Velma WhiteBear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and

Antoine Azevedo have been and will continue to be denied their rightful opportunity to
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participate in the organization and governance of the Tribe and will suffer irreparable injury
and financial loss.

79. As a direct and proximate result of the December 22 Decision, Chief Dixie,
Velma WhiteBear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and Antoine Azevedo
have been and will continue to be denied the benefits of Tribe membership and will suffer
irreparable injury and financial loss.

80.  Asadirect and proximate result of the December 22 Decision, the Tribe and the
members of the Tribe, including Chief Dixie, Velma WhiteBear, Antonia Lopez, Michael
Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and Antoine Azevedo, have been and will continue to be denied the
use of the PL 638 funds available through the BIA, and the State Funds provided by the
Commission, and will suffer irreparable injury and financial loss.

81. As a direct and proximate result of the December 22 Decision, the Tribe will be
denied recognition to conduct traditional Tribal activities and official acts, and to intervene in
legal and regulatory proceedings to protect its interests and those of its members, and will

suffer irreparable injury and financial loss.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

(Agency Action Unlawfully Withheld and Unreasonably
Delayed in Violation of the APA)

82.  Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 66, and incorporate those paragraphs
herein as if set forth in full.

83,  Anagency's “failure to act” constitutes “agency action.” 5 U.S.C § 551(13).
The APA therefore provides that a court shall "compel agency action unlawfully withheld or

unreasonably delayed.” 5 U.S.C §706(1).



84.  The BIA's failure to adjudicate the status of the 580 Putative Members of the
Tribe who submitted genealogies and other documentation to the BIA in response to the April
2007 public notices constitutes "agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed."

85, Plaintiffs Velma WhiteBear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn
Wilson and Antoine Azevedo submitted genealogies and other documentation to the BIA in
response to the April 2007 public notices.

86.  As a direct and proximate result of the BIA's failure to act on the information
submitted by the Putative Members and to publish the names of those Putative Members who
meet the criteria to participate in the initial organization of the Tribe, Plaintiffs Velma
WhiteBear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and Antoine Azevedo have
been and will continue to be denied their rightful opportunity to participate in the organization
and governance of the Tribe and will suffer irreparable injury and financial loss.

87.  Asadirect and proximate result of the BIA's failure to act on the information
submitted by the Putative Members and to publish the names of those Putative Members who
meet the criteria to participate in the initial organization of the Tribe, the Tribe will be denied
the opportunity to organize itself and elect a legitimate representative government under the
IRA and will suffer irreparable injury and financial loss.

88.  Asadirect and proximate result of the BIA's failure to act on the information
submitted by the Putative Members and to publish the names of those Putative Members who
meet the criteria to participate in the initial organization of the Tribe, Plaintiffs Velma
WhiteBear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and Antoine Azevedo have
been and will continue to be denied the benefits of Tribe membership and will suffer

irreparable injury and financial loss.



89.  Asadirect and proximate result of the BIA's failure to act on the information
submitted by the Putative Members and to publish the names of those Putative Members who
meet the criteria to participate in the initial organization of the Tribe, Plaintiffs Velma
WhiteBear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson, Antoine Azevedo and the
Tribe have been and will continue to be denied the use of the PL 638 funds available through
the BIA, and the State Funds provided by the Commission and will suffer irreparable injury
and financial loss.

90.  Asadirect and proximate result of the BIA's failure to act on the information
submitted by the Putative Members and to publish the names of those Putative Members who
meet the criteria to participate in the initial organization of the Tribe, the Tribe will be denied
recognition to conduct traditional Tribal activities and official acts, and to intervene in legal
and regulatory proceedings to protect its interests and those of its members, and will suffer

irreparable injury and financial loss.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs respectfully request that this court issue an order:

Al Declaring that the Assistant Secretary acted arbitrarily, capriciously and
otherwise not in accordance with law by acting to recognize the Tribe as “organized,” to
recognize the Burley Faction as the Tribe’s government, to abandon the BIA’s efforts to
involve the tribal community in organizing the Tribe, and to rescind prior final determinations
regarding the Tribe;

B. Vacating the December 22 Decision and directing the Assistant Secretary and

the BIA to resume efforts to involve the entire tribal community in organizing the Tribe;



C. Preliminarily and permanently enjoining the Secretary, Assistant Secretary and
BIA from taking any action to implement the December 22 Decision;

D. Directing the BIA to adjudicate the status of the Putative Members who
submitted documentation of their claims to Tribe membership, and to publish the names of
those Putative Members eligible to participate in the initial organization of the Tribe;

E. Awarding the Plaintiffs attorneys fees and reasonable costs incurred in
connection with this action; and

F. Granting such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

M. ROY GOLDBERG

(D.C. Bar No. 416953)
CHRISTOPHER M. LOVELAND

(D.C. Bar No. 473969)
Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP
1300 I Street, N.W., 11th Floor East

Washington, DC 20005-3314
Tel: (202) 772-5313

Fax: (202) 218-0020
rgoldberg@sheppardmullin.com

Dated: January __, 2011 cloveland@sheppardmullin.com
Of Counsel:

ROBERT J. URAM (pro hac vice pending)
Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP
Four Embarcadero Center, 17th Floor

San Francisco, California 94111-4109
Tel:  415-434-9100

Fax: 415-434-3947
ruram{@sheppardmullin.com



EXHIBIT A



BUREAY OF INDIAN AFFAIRS ,
Centzal Californds Agancy
650 Capitol Mall, Suite 8500 : e
4 Sacramenio, CA 95814

MAR 2 6 2004

CauﬁedMaleoﬁlma 1630 0002 3896 9127

M&S}dvzaBuﬂey Chairperson
Califormia Valley Miwok Tribe
10601 Escandido PL

Stockton, California 95121

DmMs.Bm‘ley'

}}nskm;ackmwiedgs our February 11 2004, receipt of a document represented to be

the tribal co g formeCahfeumVanzylvﬁwokTm It is our understanding that
the Thibe has shared this tribal copstinstion with the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) in an

aitexdpt to- demenstrate that itis an. Wuibe.chxetfuﬂy,Wﬁmtdzmgrmthat
such a demonstration is roade. |

- ARthoug ‘ﬁnfﬁ&kasmtreqmmdmymwmmmmtsﬁomtmsomnem
respoase to your document, we provide the following observations for your
consideration. As you know, the BIA's Central California Agency (CCA)has a
responsibility to develop and maintain a government-to-government relationship with
cach of the 54 fderally recognized tibes situated within CCA’s jurisdiction. This
relationship, uwbxdmamongot&crﬁnm&am’bihtyofworhngwﬂhthemn
or peisons from each tribe who either are rightfully elected to a position of authority
mﬂmd&e:ﬁbearwhooﬁme&cupyamﬂmofmﬁhmﬂymﬁnnanmamm
'mraMwichIAmmow&masapmnofmmymmt& ,
&EﬁxmaVﬂkymkaﬁbmHomthuﬁmmtydmwmm‘bewbean
mmized”!ndianbcandthismmbmmomnotomybymsdocmmMym
resented 2 the tribe’s constitution but additionally, by our relations over the Last
‘WMMwmmofwmmqmmmdShwm
Ramcheria.( Let me emphasize that being an organized vis-3-vis unorganized tiibe
Mﬂmmmmmﬁm&ymmmwm
tribe’s continued eligibility for certain grants and services from the United States).

Whmnuibeﬁmhasnotpmwousiymmedseekamdoso,BlAaimhasa

mem&mmeﬂ’om“ﬂmmemmmofm
Mém’baiwmmmmy We have not seen evidence that such general involvemnent was

1

ey
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m%pzﬁé or has occurred with the purported organization of your tribe. For example, we
have not been made aware of any efforts to reach out to the Indian communities in and
m@emmmm or to persons who bave maintained: an}’ﬁiﬁmi
mtact with Sheep Ranch. To our knowledge, the only persons of Indian descent
mvnhfad inthe tribe’s organization efforts, were you and your two daughters. We are
unaware of any efforts to involve Yakima Dixie or Mr. Dixie’s breﬁ:er Melvin Dixie or
any offspring of Merle Butler, Tillie Jeff or Lenmy Jeff, all persons who are known to
have resided at Sheep Ranch Rancheria at various times in the past 75 ysars and persons
who have inherited an interest in the Rancheria. We are aimnatmvmafanyeﬁ‘aﬂsm
mige mdz;am( such as Lena Shelton) and their descendents who once lived adjacent to
Sheep Ranch Rancheria or to investigate the possibility of inv Qlwng a ﬁﬁghmg group.
Weam: Wmmehdmofsmmmmwm in fact, part of a larger

of Indians residing less then 20 miles away at West Point. Indeed, at your February

23, 2&@4 degosxham you yourself testified you were at one time of the West Point Indian

Community; we understand as well, that you had siblings xesidmg there for many years.
“The BIA remains available, upon your request, to assist you in identifying the members
of ﬁ}d%@cﬁi Indian community, to assist in disseminating both individual and pubic
m&c&a, facilitating meetings, and otherwise providing logistical support.

Itis mziy aiter the greater tribal mmmﬁy is initially 1mﬁed that governing
documents should be drafted and the Tribe’s base and ‘membership criteria identified.
The ;miiczyaﬁea of the greater tribal community is essential to this effart. We are very
concemed about the designated “base roll” for the tribe as identified in the submitted
tribal constitution; this “base roll” contains only the names of five living members all but
one whom were born between 1960 and 1996, and thercfore would imply that there was
never any tribal community in and around Sheep Ranch Rancheria until you met with
Yakima Dixie, asking for his assistance to admit you as a member. ’fhﬂ base roll, thus,
Wfs that this tribe did not exist until the 1990°s,with the exception of Yakima Dixie.
However, BIA s records indicate with the exception not withstanding, otherwise.

Base mcm%e@shm rolls are used to establish a tribe’s cohesiveness and community ata
pemt%a iime in mry They would narmally contain the names of individuals listed on
i;zsﬁmc@i é&cumcms which confirm Native American tribal rﬂfatmasﬁxps in a specific
geo x::.s 1 region. Since tribes and bands themselves did not usually possess such
storica éﬂzmmis therefore, tribal base rolls havs included persons listed aa old
¢census rolls, Indian Agency rolls, voters rolis, ete. Our experience with your sister
Miwok tribes (2.2., Shingle Springs Rancheria, Tuolumne Rancheria, Ione Bazms
ctceter }:%%%5 15 1o believe that Miwok tradition favors base rolls identifying W
fmﬁzé in Miwok tribes stretching fom Amador County in the North to Calavaras and
%izz%g&ga Counties in the South. The Bass and Envollment criteria for these tribes vary;
for &éaﬁai;ie Amador County fribes use the 1915 Miwok Indian Census. of Amador
ff%gzi% El Dorado County tribes utilize the 1916 Indian Census Roll, tribe(s) in
Y‘i’;’;{}i}.ﬁﬁﬂﬂ County utilize a 1934 IRA voters’ list. The base roll typically constitutes the
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cornerstone of tribal membership and based upon our experience, has been the basic
starting point and foundation for each of the Miwok tribes in our jurisdiction, i.c., the
Tone Band of Miwok Indians, Shingle Smgs Rancheria and Tuolumne Rancheria.

We mzzsi continue to emphasis the im?cmamz of the psmx:zpazmn of a greater tribal
comununity in determining mmnbars%gp criteria. We relterate our continued availability
and willingness to assist you in t‘tﬁs;pmcess and that via PL 93-638 contracts intended to
facilitate the organization or reorgauization of the tribal community, we have already
extended assistance. We urge you to continue the work that you have bagmwmés
formal organization of the California Valley Miwok Tribe.

§f we can assist your efforts 1 m any way , please contact Raym&nd Fry, Manager, Tribal
Smm at (916) 930-3794.

S}.maié you wish to appeal any portion of this letter, you are advised that you may do so
by complying with the following: 'y

This decision may be appcaiad 10 the Regional Director, Pacific Regional Office, Bureau
of Indian Affairs, 2800 Cottage Way, Sacramento, California 95825. In accordance with
the regulations in 25 CFR Part 2 (copy enclosed). Your notice of appeal must be filed in
this office within 30 days of the date you receive this decision. The date of filing or
notice is the date it is post marked or the date it is personally delivered to this office.
Yoir notice of appeal must include your name, address and teiephanc number. It should
clearly identify the decision o be 3}:@@6& if possible attach a copy of the decision. The
notice:of and the envelope which it is mailed, should be clearly labeled *NOTICE OF
APPEAL.” The notice of appeal must Hst the names and addresses of the interested
parties known to you and certify that you have sent them copies of the notice.

You must also send a copy of your notice to the R@m&i D;recm;; at the address given
above. =5

i you are not zs;};*ﬁaemed by an attomey, you may request assistance fx‘s}m this office in
the preparation of your appeal,
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EXHIBIT B



United States Department of the Interior

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY
Washington, D.C. 20240

- B latale
P g A e
o I IR VIO

(13

Mr. Yakima K. Dixie

Sheep Ranch Raocherin of MiWok ludians of California
11178 Sheep Ranch Rd.

P.O. Box 41

Sheep Ranch, California 93230

Drear Mr. bDixie:

[ am writing in responsc 10 your appeal filed with the office of the Assistant Secreloy —
Indian Affairs on October 30, 2003. In deciding this appueal, T am exercising authonty delegared
1o me from the Assistant Secretary — ludian Affairs pursuant to 209 DM 8.3 and 110 DM 8.2, In
that appeal, vou challenged the Burcau of Indian Affairs’ ( “BIA™) recognition of Sylvia Burley as
tribal Chairman and sought to “nullify” her admission. and the admission of her daughter and
sranddavehters into your Tribe. Although your appeal raiscs many difficult issucs. I must
Jismiss it on procedural grouads.

Your uppeal of the BIA's recogmition of Ms. Burley as ribal Chairman has been rendered
moot by the BIA's decision of March 26, 2004, a copy of which is cnclosed, rejecting the Tribe’s
proposed constitution. In that letter, the BIA mude clear that the Federal government did not
recognize Ms. Burley as the tribal Chairman. Rather, the BIA would recognize her as “*a person
of suthority within California Valley Miwok Tribe.” Until such time as the Tribe has orgagized.
the Federal government can recognize no one. including yourself, as the tribal Chairmoan. |
encourage you, either in conjunction with Ms. Duarley, other tribal members, or potential tribal
members. tr continue your cfforts to organize the Tribe along the lines outlined in the March 26,
3004, letter so that the Tribe can become organized and enjoy the full benefits of Federal
rccognition. The first step in organizing the Tribe is identifying putative tribal members. If you
need guidance or assistance, Ray Fry, (916) 930-3794. of the Central California Agency of the
BIA can advise vou how 1o go about doinyg this. =

In ddition. yvour appeal to my office was proceduraily defective because T raised issues
that hud not been raised at lower levels of the séministrutive appeal process. In May 2003, you
contacted the BIA to request assistance in preparing an appeal of the BIA’s recognition of Ms.
Turiey as tribal Chairman. You specifically stated that you were not filing a formal Notice of
Appeal. In June 2003, you filed an “Appeai of inaction of official,” pursuant to 25 C.F.R. §2.8,
with the Central California Agency Superintendent challenging the BIA’s failure to cespond to
your request for assistance. In August 2003 you filed another “Appeal of inaction of official™



with the Acting Regional Director challenging the failure of the Superintendent to respond 1o
sour appeal of the BIAs maction. Your appeal with my office, however, was not an “Appeal of
inaction of official.” Rather, your “Notice of Appeal” challenged the BIA's recognition of Ms.
Burley as tribal Chairman and sought to nullify the Iribe’s adoption of her and her family
members. Those issues were not raised below. They are not, therefore, properly before me.

In addition, your appeal appears to be untimely. In 1999, you first challenged the BIA's
recognition of Ms. Burley as Chairman of the Tribe. In February 2000, the BIA informed you
that it defers 1o tribal resolution of such issues. On July 18, 2001, you filed a lawsuit against Ms.
Burley in the United States District Court for the Fastern District of California challenging her
purported feadership of the Tribe. On Janvary 24, 2002, the district court dismissed vour lawsuit,
without prejudice and with leave to amend, because you had not exhausted your administrative

emedies by appealing the BIA's February 2000 decision. After the court’s January 24, 2002,
order, you should have pursued your administrative remedies with the BIA. lustead, you waited
almost a year and a half, umzi June 2003, before raising your claim with the Burcau. As a result
of your delay in pursuing your administrative appeal after the caurt s January 24, 2002, order,

vour appeal before me is time barred.

in light of the BIA's letter of March 26, 2004, that the Tribe is not an organized tribe
however, the BIA does not recognize any tribal zovernment, and therefore, cannot defer o an\’
tibal dispute resolution process at this time. [ understand that a Mr. Tr oy M. Woodward has
in.id himself out as an Administrative Hearing Officer for the Trike and purported to conduct a
hearing to resolve your complaint against Ms. Burley. Please be adviscd that the BIA docs not
recognize Mr. Woodward as a tribal official or bis hearing process as a legitimate tribal forum.
Shouid other issues arise with respect to tribal le cadership or membership in the future, therefore,

vour appeal would properly lic exclusively with the BIA.

Sineerely,

‘n A o ?
ST -
Michael D. Olsen

Principal Deputy
Acting Asvistant Secretury - Indian Adfuirs

Enclosure

wes Svivia Burley
Troy M. Woodward, Fsq.
Thomas W, Wolfrum, Esg.
Chadd Uverone




EXHIBIT C



United States Department of the Interior -

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY
Washington, DC 20240

DEC 22 200

Mr, Yakima Dixie
1231 E. Hazelton Avenue
Stockton, California 95205

Dear Mr. Dixie:

This letter is to inform you of the ch:a'rtment of the Interior’s rcspohse to the 3eoision ofthe
Interior Board of Indian Appeals (IBIA) in California Valley Miwok Tribe v, Pacific Reglonal -
Director, Bureau of Indian Affairs, 51 IBIA 103 (January 28, 2010) (Decision). . ‘

The Decision stemmed from Sylvia Burley’s appeal of the Bureau of Indian Affairs Pacific
Regional Director’s April 2, 2007 decision to affirm the Central California Agency
Superintendent in his efforts to “assist” the Tribe in organizing a tribal government. Inthe
Decision, the IBIA dismissed each of Ms. Burley’s three complaints for lack of jurisdiction.!
The IBIA did, however, refer Ms. Burley’s second claim to my office, because it was in the
nature of a tribal enrollment dispute. Decision, 51 IBIA at 122. : /

This letter is intended to address the limited issues raised by Ms. Burley’s second complaint, as’
referred to my office by the IBIA: the BIA’s involvement in the Tribe’s affairs related to
govemnment and membership. \

Background

This difficult issue is rooted in the unique history of the California Valley Miwok Tribé. A
relatively small number of tribal members had been living on less than 1 acre of land in
Calaveras County, California known as the Sheep Ranch Rancheria, since 1916, In'1966, the
Department was preparing to terminate the Tribe pursuant to the California Rancheria
Termination Act, as part of that dark chapter of Federal Indian policy known as the “Termination
Era.” As part of this effort, the Department had intended to distribute the asséts of the Sheep .
Ranch Rancheria to Ms. Mabel Dixie, as the only eligible person to receive the assets.

The Department never completed the process of terminating the Ti;ibe, and th§ Tribe never lost
its status as a sovereign federally-recognized tribe. : ‘ .

* Ms. Burley’s complaints were: 1.} The BIA Pacific Reglanal Director’s April 2, 2007 decision violated the Tribe's EY
2007 contract with the BIA under the indian Self-Determination dnd Education Assistance Act, or the Regionat
Director’s decision constituted an unlawful reassumption of the contract; 2.) the Tribe is already organized, and
the BIA’s offer of assistance constitutes an impermissible Intrusion into tribal government and membership
matters that are reserved exclusively to tha Tribe; and, 3.) the Regional Director erred in stating that the Tribe was
never terminated and thus Is not a “restored” tribe. Decisfon, 51 IBIA at 104.
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In 1998, Yakima Dixie, a tribal member acting as the leader of the Tribe, adopted Sylvia Burley,
Rashel Reznor, Anjelica Paulk, and Tristian Wallace as members of the Tribe. At that time, the
Department recognized those five individuals, along with Yakima Dixie’s brother Melvin, as
members of the Tribe. Decision, 51 IBIA at 108,

On September 24, 1998, the Superintendent of the Bureau of Indian Affairs Central California
Agency advised Yakima Dixie, then serving as Tribal Chairman, that Yakima Dixie,

Melvin Dixie, Sylvia Burley, Rashel Reznor, Anjelica Paulk, and Tristan Wallace were able to
participate in an effort to reorganize under the Indian Reorganization Act. California Valley
Miwok Tribe v. United States, 424 F. Supp. 2d. 197, 198 (D.D.C. 2006). In that same letter, the
Superintendent also recommended that the Tribe establish a general council form of government
for the organization process, and provided the Tribe with a draft version of a resolution to
implement such a form of government. On November 3, 1998, by Resolution # GC-98-01 , the
Tribe established the General Council. .

Several months afterwards, in April 1999, Yakima Dixie resigned as Tribal Chairman. On

May 8, 1999, the Tribe held a general election, in which Yakima Dixie participated, and elected
Sylvia Burley as its new chairperson. The BIA later recognized Sylvia Burley as Chairperson of
the California Valley Miwok Tribe. Id. ’

Shortly thereafter, the Tribe developed a draft constitution, and submitted it to the BIA for
Secretarial review and approval in May 1999.% During this effort, it is apparent that a leadership
dispute developed between Ms. Burley and Mr. Dixie.

On March 6, 2000, the Tribe ratified its Constitution and later requested that the BIA conduct a
review and hold a secretarial election pursuant to the Indian Reorganization Act. Jd. at 199. In
the interim, on March 7, 2000, the Superintendent issued a letter to Sylvia Burley stating that the
BIA “believed the Tribe’s General Council to consist of the adult members of the tribe, i.e.,

Mr. Dixie, Ms. Burley, and Ms. Reznor,® and stated that the leadership dispute between

M. Dixie and Ms. Burley was an internal tribal matter.” 14,

In February 2004, Ms. Burley subrmitted a document to the BIA purporting to serve as the
Tribe’s constitution. The BIA declined to approve the constitution because it believed that

Ms. Burley had not involved the entire tribal community in its development and adoption. Letter
from Dale Risling, Sr. to Sylvia Burley (March 26, 2004). The BIA noted that there were other
Indians in the local area who may have historical ties to the Tribe. In that same letter, the BIA
indicated that it did not view the Tribe as an “’organized’ Indian Tribe,” and that it would only
recognize Ms. Burley as a “person of authority” within the Tribe, rather than the Chairperson.
Letter from Dale Risling, Sr. to Sylvia Burley (March 26, 2004). The Office of the Assistant
Secretary — Indian Affairs affirmed this position in & letter stating:

[Tlhe BIA made clear [in its decision of March 26, 2004] that the
Federal government did not recognize Ms, Burley as the tribal
Chairman. Rather, the BIA would recognize her has a “person of

% The Tribe withdrew its original request for Secretarial review of its constitution in July 1899,
? pursuant to the Tribe’s Resolution # GC-98-01, the Genera] Council shall consist of all adult members of the Tribe.
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authority* within Californja Valley Miwok Tribe.’ Until such time
as the Tf;be has organized, the Federal government can recognize
no one, including yourself, as the tribal Chairman.

Letter from Acting Assistant Secretary — Indian Affairs Michael D. Olsen to Yakima Dixi

; | Mi . ) ixie
(Ffiba'v.xaryth IL ii; 20({){5)‘ At that point, the BIA became focused on an effort to organize the Tribe
under the Indian Reorganization Act, and to include a number of people who were not officiall
tribal members in that effort.* ’ ’

In 2005, the BIA suspended a contract with the Tribe, and later asserted that there was no longer
g dgovcxmnem«»tmgavennnem relationship between the United States and the Tribe. 424 F. Supp.
. at 201.

Sylvia Burley, on behalf of the Tribe, filed a complaint against the United States in the United
States District Court for the District of Columbia seeking declaratory relief affirming that it had
the autbority to organize under its own procedures pursuant to 25 U.S.C. § 476(h), and that its
proffered constitution was a valid governing document. /d. The United States defended against
the claim by arguing that its interpretation of the Indian Reorganization Act was not arbitrary and
capricious, and that it had a duty to protect the interests of all tribal members during the
organization process — which included those individual Miwok Indians who were eligible for
enrollment in the tribe. See Id. at 202. The District Court ruled that the Tribe failed to state 2
claim for which relief could be granted, which was affirmed by the United States Court of
Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit. 7. at 202; 515 F.3d. 1262.

On November 6, 2006, the Superintendent of the BIA Central California Agency issued letters to
Sylvia Burley and Yakima Dixie, stating, “[i]t is evident, however, that the ongoing leadership
dispute is at an impasse and the likelihood of this impasse changing soon seems to be remote.
Therefore, we renew our offer to assist the Tribe in the organizational process.” Letter from
Troy Burdick to Sylvia Burley and Yakima Dixie (November 6, 2006). The Superintendent then
stated “[t]he Agency, therefore, will publish notice of a general council meeting of the Tribe to
be sponsored by the BIA in the newspapers within the Miwok region. This will initiate the

reorganization process.” Id,

Sylvia Burley appealed this decision to the BIA Pacific Regional Director, who affirmed the
Superintendent’s decision on April 2, 2007, That same month, the BIA Pacific Regional Office
published notice of the reorganizational meeting in a newspaper in the region. Sylvia Burley
appealed the Regional Director’s decision to the IBIA, which subsequently dismissed her claims,

while referring the second claim to my office.

Discussion

“ The BIA, Yakima Dixie, and Sylvia Burley all agreed that there was 3 number of additional people who were
potentially eligible for membership in the Tribe. See, Californic Vailey Miwok Tribe v. United States, 515 F.3d 1267
- 1268 {D.C. Cir. 2008) (noting that the Tribe has admitted it has a potentiol membership of 250} (emphasis

added).
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I must decide whether to move forward with the BIA’s previous efforts to organize the Tribe’s
govemnment, or to recognize the Tribe’s general council form of government — consisting of the
adult members of the tribe — as sufficient to fulfill our nation-to-nation relationship.

The Department of the Interior is reluctant to involve itself in these internal tribal matters. To
the extent that Department must touch upon these fundamental internal tribal matters, its actions
must be limited to upholding its trust responsibility and effectuating the nation-to-nation
relationship.

A. Tribal Citizenship

In this instance, the facts clearly establish that the Tribe is a federally recognized tribe which
shares a nation-to-nation relationship with the United States, Moreover, the facts also establish
that Mr. Dixie adopted Sylvia Burley, Rashel Reznor, Anjelica Paulk, and Tristian Wallace as
members of the Sheep Ranch Rancheria in 1998, '

The California Valley Miwok Tribe, like all other federally recognized tribes, is a distinct political
community possessing the power to determine its own membership, and may do so according to
written law, custom, intertribal agreement, or treaty with the United States. See, Cohen’s
Handbook of Federal Indian Law, § 4.01[2][b] (2005 Edition); see also, Santa Clara Pueblo v.
Martinez, 436 U.S. 49, 54 (1978) (“To abrogate tribal decisions, particularly in the delicate area of
membership, for whatever "good' reasons, is to destroy cultural identity under the guise of saving
it”) quoting Santa Clara Pueblo v. Martinez, 402 F.Supp. 5, 18-19 (D.N.M. 1975).

I understand the difficult circumstances facing those individual Miwok Indians living in
Calaveras County, California and who lack an affiliation with a federally recognized tribe.
Affiliation with a tribe lies at the core of Indian identity. This is one reason why the Department

- is working to improve the process by which tribes can become federally recognized, and have
their nation-to-nation relationship with the United States restored.

Nevertheless, the United States cannot compel a sovereign federally recognized tribe to accept
individual Indians as tribal citizens to participate in a reorganization effort against the Tribe’s
will. See Santa Clara Pueblo, supra. It is possible that there are other individual Indians in the
area surrounding Sheep Ranch who are eligible to become members of the Tribe. Mr. Dixie and
MSs. Burley, along with the BIA, have previously indicated such. See 515 F.3d at 1267-68

(D.C. Cir. 2008).

There is a significant difference, however, between eligibility for tribal citizenship and actual
tribal citizenship. Only those individuals who are actually admitted as citizens of the Tribe are
entitled to participate in its government. The proper recourse for those individuals eligible for
tribal citizenship, but who are not vet enrolled, is to work through the Tribe’s internal process for
gaining citizenship.

It is indisputable that Mr. Dixie adopted Sylvia Burley, Rashel Reznor, Anjelica Paulk, and
Tristian Wallace as citizens of the Tribe. Moreover, it is indisputable that the BIA previously
accepted the Tribe’s decision to enroll these individuals as tribal citizens, as evidenced by its
letter of September 24, 1998.
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Whatever good reasons the BIA may have had for requiring the Tribe to admit new citizens to
participate in its government are not sufficient to overcome the longstanding principles of
reserving questions of enrollment to the Tribe.

B. Tribal Government

As with matters of enrollment, each tribe is vested with the authority to determine its own form
of government. This authority is a quintessential attribute of tribal sovereignty, Cohen’s
Handbook of Federal Indian Law, § 4.01[2][a] (2005 Edition).

Tlie Department recommended in a letter to the Tribe, that it “operate as a General Council,”
which would serve as its governing body. Letter from BIA. Central California Superintendent
Dale Risling to Yakima K. Dixie, Spokesperson for the Sheep Ranch Rancheria

(September 24, 1998). In its letter to the Tribe, the Department advised the Tribe that, “[tThe
General Council would then be able to proceed with the conduct of businese, in a manner
consistent with the authorizing resolution.” JJ. The Department previously considered this form
sufficient to fulfill the government-to-government relationship. See award of P.L. 93-638
Contract CTI51T62801 (Tebruary 8, 2000).

The determination of whether to adopt a new constitution, and whether to admit new tribal
citizens to participale in (hat effort, must be made by the ‘I'ribe in the exercise of its inherant
sovereign authority, and not by the Department.

Conelusion

I have reviewed the documents referenced in this letter, as well as the numerous submissions
made by Mr. Dixie and Ms. Burley to my office since the issuanve of the IBIA Decision in
- Jamuary 2010, :

[ conclude that there is no need for the BTA to continue its previous efforts to organize the
Tribe’s government, becausc it is organized us u General Couneil, pursuant to the resolution it
adopted at the suggestion of the BIA. Consequently, there is no need for the BIA to continuc its
previous efforts to cnsurc that the Tribe coufers tribal citizenship upot other individual Miwok
Indians in the surrounding area.

Based upon the foregoing prineiples of tribal sovereignty, and our govemment-to=government
relationship with the Tribe, I am directing that the following actions be undertaken:

1. Tho BIA will rescind its April 2007 public notice 1o, “assist the California Valley Miwok
Tribe, aka, Sheep Ranch Rancheria (Tribe) in its efforts to organize a formal
governmental structure that is acceptable o all members.”

2. The DIA will rescird its November 6, 2006 letters to Sylvia Burley and Yakima Dixie
stating that the BIA will initiate the reorganization process for the California Valley

Miwok Tribe.



3. Iam rescinding the February 11, 2005 letter from the Office of the Assistant Secretary to
Yakima Dixie stating that the BIA does not recognize any government of the California
Valley Miwok Tribe.

4. The BIA will rescind its letter of March 26, 2004 to Sylvia Burley stating that it “does not
yet view your tribe to be an *organized’ Indian Tribe,” and indicating that Ms, Burley is
merely a “person of authority” within the Tribe.

5. My office and the BIA will work with the Tribe’s existing governing body ~ its
General Council, as established by Resolution # GC-98-01 — to fulfill the govemment-
to-government relationship between the United States and the California Valley
Miwok Tribe.

My decision addresses those issues referred to my office by the decision of the IBIA.

Lastly, I recognize that issues related to membership and leadership have been significant

“sources of contention within the Tribe in recent years. I strongly encourage the Tribe’s
governing body, the General Council, to resolve these issues through internal processes so as to
mitigate the need for future involvement by the Department in these matters. To this point, I
understand that Resolution #GC-98-01 provides for proper notice and conduct of meetings of the
General Council, I likewise encourage the Tribe’s General Council to act in accord with its
governing document when settling matters relating to leadership and membership, so as to bring
this highly contentious period of the Tribe’s history to a close.

A similar letter has been transmitted to Ms. Sylvia Burley, and her legal counsel.
Sincerely,

iy

=% iarry Echo Hawk
Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs

ce: Mike Black, Director of the Bureau of Indian Affairs
Amy Dutschke, BIA Pacific Regional Director
Elizabeth Walker, Walker Law LLC



